
 

 

HOLLAND & HART LLP  
Doyle S. Byers, #11440 
Cory A. Talbot, #11477 
Engels J. Tejeda, #11427 
Michelle Quist, #13559 
222 S. Main Street, Suite 2200 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101 
Telephone: (801) 799-5800  
Facsimile: (801) 799-5700 
DSByers@hollandhart.com 
CATalbot@hollandhart.com 
EJTejeda@hollandhart.com 
MLQuist@hollandhart.com   
 
Attorneys for David K. Broadbent as Court- 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH, CENTRAL DIVISION 

 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION; and 
UTAH DIVISION OF CONSUMER 
PROTECTION, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
ZURIXX, LLC, a Utah limited liability 
company; et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 

 
REPLY TO FURTHER MOTION IN 
OPPOSITION FOR CONTEMPT OF 

COURT RELATING TO RECEIVER’S 
SECOND MOTION FOR ORDER 

HOLDING EFRON DORADO, S.E. AND 
DAVID EFRΌN IN CONTEMPT OF 

COURT AND FOR CIVIL SANCTIONS 
 

Case No. 2:19-cv-00713-DAK-DAO 
 

Judge Dale A. Kimball 
 

Magistrate Judge Daphne A. Oberg 

The Receiver1 submits this Reply in response to Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s Further 

Motion in Opposition for Contempt of Court (the “Further Opposition” [ECF 263]) and in 

 
1 Unless otherwise noted, defined terms are taken from the Receiver’s Second Motion for Order 
Holding Efron Dorado, S.E. and David Efrόn in Contempt of Court and for Civil Sanctions. 
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support of the Receiver’s Second Motion for Order Holding Efron Dorado, S.E. and David Efrόn 

in Contempt of Court and For Civil Sanctions (the “Motion” [ECF 213])2: 

INTRODUCTION 

For the last year and a half, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado have worked relentlessly to 

prevent the Receiver from exercising control over the Zurixx Property in Puerto Rico. 

Repeatedly defying this Court’s authority, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado (1) refused to permit the 

Receiver from retrieving and auctioning the Zurixx Property, (2) filed and continued to enforce 

eviction proceedings against Zurixx, and, (3) filed a complaint against the Receiver seeking an 

order—not from this Court but from the United States District Court for the District of Puerto 

Rico—permitting it to keep the Zurixx Property in satisfaction of Zurixx’s allegedly overdue 

rental payments or seeking more than $236,000 from the Receivership estate for alleged 

outstanding rent payments.3  

Despite Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s shenanigans, the Zurixx Property has finally been 

sold. But the cost of finally getting this simple sale completed has been tremendous, and the fault 

is entirely Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s. The Court should hold Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado 

accountable for their bad acts, including repeated violations of this Court’s orders, which caused 

significant expense and losses, such as unnecessary legal fees and diminishing value of the 

Zurixx Property. Additionally, contrary to their arguments otherwise, AMG Capital 

Management, LLC, et al. v. Federal Trade Commission, 141 S. Ct. 1341 (2021), has no bearing 

 
2  Neither the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure nor Local Rule DUCivR 7-1 provide for the filing 
of a “Further Motion in Opposition.” 
3  Efron Dorado’s “Intervenor Complaint” is attached as Exhibit 1. 
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on the Receiver’s Motion, or, as the Receiver has already explained in briefs to this Court (ECF 

261), on the underlying case in general.  

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s overt contempt for this Court necessitates a second 

contempt order to be issued against them as well as additional civil sanctions for the harm their 

actions caused the Receivership Estate. 

MEMORANDUM 

I. AMG Capital Does Not Apply to the Receiver’s Motion or to the Case in General. 

The Further Opposition is substantively wrong. Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado assert that 

AMG Capital has “substantially impacted the potential monetary relief available to Plaintiffs in 

this case and warrants a modification of the Injunction as the majority of the provisions in that 

order are now unnecessary and unlawful.” (Further Opp’n at 1.) As detailed in the Receiver’s 

briefs to this Court (noticed in ECF 261), while the AMG Capital case may have decided that 

equitable monetary relief is not available under § 13(b), the Receiver’s appointment is still 

appropriate because the parties to this case agreed to the Injunction under other federal and state 

statutes. Since the appointment of the Receiver in this case remains lawful and appropriate, the 

Receiver’s Motion is unaffected by AMG Capital. 

II. Current Circumstances Do Not Change the Fact that Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado 
Violated the Court’s Orders.  

More to the point, even if the Court found that AMG Capital somehow affected the 

Receiver’s appointment, this would not justify Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s prior and ongoing 

contempt of this Court’s existing orders, as detailed in the Motion. The proper procedure to 

object to an improper legal remedy is to file a motion, not to unilaterally and repeatedly violate 

Court orders. 
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Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado try to sweep their misconduct under a rug, including in their 

Further Opposition an update to the Court regarding the recent auction of the Zurixx Property. 

But, in doing so, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado omit important information. They state that “[t]he 

FTC has now recently removed and otherwise disposed of all of the assets of Zurixx in our 

premises, having them sold at a public auction by FTC’s agents,” and that therefore “there is no 

need for a receiver on our premises.” (Further Opp’n at 2.) True enough, the Zurixx Property was 

sold at auction on May 12, 2021, but only after considerable delay and expense. Indeed, Mr. 

Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s conduct resulted in the receivership incurring tens of thousands of 

dollars in legal fees and costs spent to secure the Zurixx Property while fighting their frivolous 

filings in two different Puerto Rico courts.  

Simply put, the fact that there is “no [current] need for a receiver on [the] premises” does 

not absolve Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado of their past contempt of this Court’s orders. The Court 

should not excuse Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s belated fulfillment of their obligation to allow 

the Receiver onto the premises to obtain the Zurixx Property in order to properly dispose of it. 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado withheld that right from the Receiver for over 18 months while, at 

the same time, making multiple frivolous filings in this Court as well as courts in Puerto Rico 

and violating this Court’s order to allow access to the premises. These unrelenting efforts to 

stonewall the Receiver from receiving the Zurixx Property should not be tolerated. The Court 

should grant the Motion.  
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III. Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s Various Other Reasons to Deny the Motion are Not 
Persuasive. 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s various other reasons to deny the Motion included in their 

earlier Motion in Opposition for Contempt of Court (the “Opposition” [ECF 238]) are 

unpersuasive. 

A. The Motion is not barred by the pending appeal in the Tenth Circuit Court 
of Appeals. 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado assert that the Motion is barred by Rule 62.1 due to Mr. 

Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s appeal of the Court’s Contempt Order (ECF 166) pending in the Tenth 

Circuit Court of Appeals, No. 20-4090. This assertion is nonsense. It misconstrues Rule 62.1 and 

misrepresents this Court’s jurisdiction. Rule 62.1 provides as follows:  

If a timely motion is made for relief that the court lacks authority to grant because 
of an appeal that has been docketed and is pending, the court may: (1) defer 
considering the motion; (2) deny the motion; or (3) state either that it would grant 
the motion if the court of appeals remands for that purpose or that the motion 
raises a substantial issue. 

 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 62.1.  

First, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado have not made a timely motion for relief under Rule 

62.1 as required, nor have they presented any argument to support application of Rule 62.1. 

Second, the pending appeal before the Tenth Circuit does not bear upon this Court’s authority to 

enter the Contempt Order—rather, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado appeal whether this Court erred 

in entering the Contempt Order based on various purported facts. Finally, Rule 62.1 does not 

“bar” a party from bringing a motion where there is a pending appeal. Rather, Rule 62.1 permits 

the Court to “(1) defer considering the motion; (2) deny the motion; or (3) state either that it 

would grant the motion if the court of appeals remands for that purpose or that the motion raises 
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a substantive issue.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 62.1. Accordingly, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s assertion 

regarding Rule 62.1 is incorrect, and the rule does not bar the Motion. 

 Moreover, this Court denied Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s request for stay pending 

appeal (ECF 185) with the result that Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado have not been relieved from 

complying with the Contempt Order. Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado have responded by 

committing new and recurring acts of contempt in violation of the Injunction subsequent to the 

entry of the Contempt Order. “If a person to whom a court directs an order believes that order is 

incorrect the remedy is to appeal, but, absent a stay, he must comply promptly with the order 

pending appeal.” Lundahl v. Halabi, 600 Fed. App’x 596, 605 (10th Cir. 2014) (quotation 

omitted) (unpublished) (emphasis added). Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction to consider the 

substance of the Motion despite the pending appeal in the Tenth Circuit.  

B. Mr. Efrόn continued to defy and disregard this Court’s authority. 

Showing no small amount of audacity, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado point out that Efron 

Dorado, through Mr. Efrόn, has filed a “pending motion” in the United States District Court for 

the District of Puerto Rico, in which the Receiver is in default. (Opp’n at 2 ¶ D.) The “pending 

motion” referred to by Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado is a pleading styled “Intervenor Complaint” 

filed on February 19, 2021 by Mr. Efrόn on behalf of Efron Dorado in the miscellaneous action 

3:19-mc-00403-JAG.4 (Ex. 1.) In this “Intervenor Complaint,” Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado seek 

an order from the United States District Court for the District of Puerto Rico for  

 
4 On November 8, 2019, the Receiver filed a copy of the Complaint and the Injunction with the 
United States District Court for the District of Puerto Rico in miscellaneous action 3:19-mc-403. 
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 754, “a receiver appointed in any civil action or proceeding involving 
property, real, personal or mixed, situated in different districts shall . . . be vested with complete 
jurisdiction and control of all such property with the right to take possession thereof.” 
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Zurixx through the Receiver to satisfy the outstanding rental payments of 
$236,000.00 as an administrative expense, as well as to clear the lease premises of 
all Zurixx’s property at its own cost and expense. Alternatively and additionally, 
it is requested for this Court to order the Receiver to leave all personal property in 
the leased premises as payment for the outstanding balance and for Zurixx . . . . 

 
(Ex. 1, at 4-5.) The “Intervenor Complaint” is yet another instance of contempt and disregard of 

this Court’s exclusive jurisdiction because it violates the express terms of the Injunction. (Inj. at 

24 (“Persons … are enjoined from taking action that would interfere with the exclusive 

jurisdiction of this Court over the Assets or Documents of Receivership Entities ….”) [ECF 54].) 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado did not seek leave of Court to bring their action against the 

Receiver, and the “Intervenor Complaint” itself is a brazen violation of the Injunction.  

 Further, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado misrepresent the proceedings in the Bayamόn 

Superior Court in Puerto Rico. Contrary to Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s suggestion, the 

Bayamόn Superior Court did not rule against the Receiver in regard to the Zurixx Property or 

any Receivership assets located in Puerto Rico. To the contrary, the Bayamόn Superior Court 

ruled that an eviction is permissible because the real property is not part of the Receivership 

Estate. Further, following a hearing on January 28, 2021, the Bayamόn Superior Court instructed 

the parties to discuss granting the Receiver access to the office in Puerto Rico, which Mr. Efrόn 

and Efron Dorado, not surprisingly, failed to do for another three months. 

 Most recently, after the Receiver filed an opposition to the “Intervenor Complaint,” 

explaining that the district court in Puerto Rico has no jurisdiction over these matters, Mr. Efrόn 

and Efron Dorado filed a reply memorandum, arguing that AMG Capital deprived the FTC of its 

authority to seek remedies in this case, including the appointment of the Receiver. (Ex. 2 at 2.) 
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Further, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado continue to falsely claim that the court in Puerto Rico is 

“the only Court with full jurisdiction over the parties and the property.” (Id.) 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s persistent attempts to use courts located in Puerto Rico in 

order to divest the Receivership Estate of receivership assets are further indications of their bad 

faith refusal to recognize this Court’s jurisdiction, which necessitates the entry of a second order 

of contempt and additional civil sanctions. 

C. The Receiver was acting within his authority in seeking to retrieve Zurixx’s 
assets. 

The Injunction provides that the Court has exclusive jurisdiction over receivership assets. 

(Inj. at 24 (recognizing “the exclusive jurisdiction of this Court over the Assets or Documents of 

Receivership Entities”).) By statute, the Receiver thus has jurisdiction over Zurixx’s assets in 

Puerto Rico: “A receiver appointed in any civil action or proceeding involving property, real, 

personal or mixed, situated in different districts shall . . . be vested with complete jurisdiction 

and control of all such property with the right to take possession thereof.” 28 U.S.C. § 754.5 The 

Receiver provided Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado with actual notice of the Injunction at the outset 

of the receivership. (See Mot. at 3 ¶¶ 3-4.)  

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado say that “[t]he action being sought by the Receiver is 

unreasonable, violative of our property rights, and unnecessary . . . .” (Opp’n at 2 ¶ E.) Yet they 

offer no facts or law in support of this statement. Indeed, this Court has already found that 

“[o]nce the Receiver was appointed, the Court took exclusive jurisdiction over Zurixx’s assets 

 
5  To retain “complete jurisdiction and control” over receivership assets, the Receiver must, 
“within ten days after the entry of his order of appointment, file copies of the complaint and such 
order of appointment in the district court for each district in which property is located.” 28 
U.S.C. § 754. The Receiver did so here. (Mot. at 2 n.1.) 
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and any contingencies created by the lease agreement were prohibited under the injunction.” 

(Contempt Order at 3 [ECF 166].) Moreover, the Court has broad equitable jurisdiction over 

equity receiverships like this one. See Liberte Capital Gr., LLC v. Capwill, 462 F.3d 543, 551 

(6th Cir. 2006). Accordingly, as already recognized by this Court, the Receiver’s action to 

recover the Zurixx Property is well within his court-appointed authority. 

The Receiver was acting within his authority in seeking control of the Zurixx Property. 

This Court has already said so. Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s ongoing bad faith actions to resist 

that control violate this Court’s orders and warrant severe sanctions.  

D. Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado improperly took control over receivership 
assets. 

Finally, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado asserted that the Receiver’s “actions would further 

be disruptive of the ongoing business which would be irreparably damaged.” (Opp’n at 2 ¶ F.) 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado fail to provide any authority by which a party may actively violate 

multiple court orders—as Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado have done here—if doing so would 

benefit its business. Indeed, such an assertion defies both law and logic. Mr. Efrόn and Efron 

Dorado had actual notice of the Injunction and Contempt Order, yet continued to violate those 

orders by relentlessly preventing the Receiver from recovering the Zurixx Property, filing an 

eviction action against Zurixx in Puerto Rico, and, most recently, filing a complaint against the 

Receiver in Puerto Rico in an effort to divest the Receivership Estate of substantial receivership 

assets. Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s continuous violations of the Injunction and the Contempt 

Order are inexcusable. 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s actions have caused the Receiver to needlessly incur 

substantial fees and costs disproportionate to the value of the assets at issue. As set out in the 
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Motion, Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado’s contempt necessitates additional civil sanction so as to 

remedy the harm caused to the Receivership Estate. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated above and in the Motion, the Court should enter an order holding 

Mr. Efrόn and Efron Dorado in further contempt of Court for their extended defiance of the 

Injunction and violation of the Contempt Order and grant additional civil sanctions to remedy the 

harm caused by their contumacy in the following forms of relief: (1) an award of reasonable 

attorney’s fees and costs incurred by the Receiver to enforce the Injunction and for all litigation 

related to both contempt motions, including the Receiver’s fees; and (2) coercive sanctions in an 

amount deemed necessary and sufficient by the Court to deter further violations. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 11th day of June 2021. 

      HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
      /s/ Michelle Quist   
      Doyle S. Byers 
      Cory A. Talbot 
      Engels J. Tejeda 
      Michelle Quist 

Attorneys for David K. Broadbent as the Court-
Appointed Receiver 

16838027_v2 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO 

 
 
FEDERAL TRADE COMISSION ET AL 
 
Plaintiffs 
 
v.  
 
ZURIXX ,LLC ET AL 
 
Defendants  
 
EFRON DORADO, S.E. 
 
Intervenor 

Case No. 19-mc-00403-JAG 
 
 
APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER 

 
INTERVENOR COMPLAINT FOR ORDER DIRECTING PAYMENT OF 

RENT AND FOR RELIEF FROM AUTOMATIC STAY OR, ALTERNATIVELY, 
MOTION FOR ALLOWANCE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE FOR LEASE 

 
 Comes now Efron Dorado, SE, through its undersigned counsel, and respectfully 

states and prays as follows: 

I. Parties to this Complaint 
 

1. Efron Dorado, SE, a special partnership under the laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto 

Rico, hereby alleges an Intervenor Complaint against David K. Broadbent, appointed receiver 

of Zurixx, LLC. 

2. Zurrixx, LLC is a limited liability company doing business in Puerto Rico and with its 

local principal place of business in office space at Paseo del Plata Shopping Center, Dorado, 

Puerto Rico, which Movant administers. 

3. Defendant David K. Broadbent is the appointed receiver over the Receivership Entities, 

one of which is Zurixx, LLC, as that term is established in the Stipulated Preliminary 

Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 3   Filed 02/19/21   Page 1 of 5Case 2:19-cv-00713-DAK-DAO   Document 271   Filed 06/11/21   PageID.12793   Page 12 of 127



Case No. 19-mc-00403-JAG  Intervenor Complaint Page 2 of 5 

Injunction filed in case 19CV00713 before the Central Division of the United States District 

Court for the District of Utah, copy of which was filed in the captioned case pursuant 28 

U.S.C.A. § 754 for said receiver to have jurisdiction and control over the property of the 

Receivership Entities in this District. 

II. Basis for Jurisdiction 
 

4. This Honorable Court has jurisdiction to entertain this action pursuant to 28 USC §§ 

1331,7541 and 9592, as well as under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 66.  

 
III. Statement of Claim 

5. Defendant David K. Broadbent is the appointed receiver over the Receivership Entities, 

one of which is Zurixx, LLC (“Zurixx”), as that term is established in the Stipulated 

Preliminary Injunction filed in case 19CV00713 before the Central Division of the United 

States District Court for the District of Utah. 

 
1 A receiver appointed in any civil action or proceeding involving property, real, personal or mixed, situated in different 
districts shall, upon giving bond as required by the court, be vested with complete jurisdiction and control of all such 
property with the right to take possession thereof. 

He shall have capacity to sue in any district without ancillary appointment, and may be sued with respect thereto as 
provided in section 959 of this title. Such receiver shall, within ten days after the entry of his order of appointment, file 
copies of the complaint and such order of appointment in the district court for each district in which property is located. 
The failure to file such copies in any district shall divest the receiver of jurisdiction and control over all such 
property in that district. 28 U.S.C.A. § 754 

 
2 § 959. Trustees and receivers suable; management; State laws 
(a) Trustees, receivers or managers of any property, including debtors in possession, may be sued, without leave of the 
court appointing them, with respect to any of their acts or transactions in carrying on business connected with such 
property. Such actions shall be subject to the general equity power of such court so far as the same may be necessary to 
the ends of justice, but this shall not deprive a litigant of his right to trial by jury. 
(b) Except as provided in section 1166 of title 11, a trustee, receiver or manager appointed in any cause pending in any 
court of the United States, including a debtor in possession, shall manage and operate the property in his possession 
as such trustee, receiver or manager according to the requirements of the valid laws of the State in which such 
property is situated, in the same manner that the owner or possessor thereof would be bound to do if in 
possession thereof. 28 U.S.C.A. § 959 
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6. On or about January 2015 Movant entered into a Standard Retail Space Lease (the 

“Lease”) with Zurixx, LLC, as tenant, for the use of certain commercial real property 

administered by Movant and located at Paseo del Plata Shopping Mall in Dorado, Puerto Rico. 

See Exhibit A. The Lease had an initial three (3) year term, which subsequently extended three 

additional years in a Second Addendum executed in November 2018. See Exhibit B.  

7. Pursuant to the Lease, as subsequently extended by the Second Addendum, Zurixx 

became obligated to pay to Movant the following yearly basic rent: 

 

Along with the additional rent established in the Lease, Zurixx was obligated to satisfy a 

monthly rent of $13,118.94 plus applicable state rental tax and a portion of the ad 

valorem property tax on the Leased Premises, plus common area maintenance charges.   

8. After the filing of the stipulated injunction in case 19CV00713 before the Central 

Division of the United States District Court for the District of Utah, on November 5, 2019 

the Receiver, through its local counsel, requested control of the leased premises and assumed 

the Lease, i.e. it has never rejected the Lease. See Exhibit C.3  Nevertheless, and despite 

that it visited the premises and extracted computers, materials, hard drives, files and other 

property of Zurixx, the Receiver has never satisfied Landlord the applicable monthly rent and 

 
3 Movant hereby requests a fifteen (15) days extension to file an official translation of Exhibit C. 

Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 3   Filed 02/19/21   Page 3 of 5Case 2:19-cv-00713-DAK-DAO   Document 271   Filed 06/11/21   PageID.12795   Page 14 of 127



Case No. 19-mc-00403-JAG  Intervenor Complaint Page 4 of 5 

expenses, which have gone unpaid since November, 2019, when Receiver came in and 

fired Zurixx’s employees, effectively closing down the business.   

9. Given Zurixx’s and the Receiver’s breach of contract, on March 2nd, 2020 Golden RE, 

LLC, entity for which Efron Dorado, SE managed the property, filed an eviction case Golden 

RE v. Zurrix, BY2020CV1121 before the Puerto Rico Court of First Instance. 

10.  As of today, Zurixx and the Receiver owe Movant $236,000.00. Said amount is deemed 

an administrative expense, readily payable from the estate under the Receiver’s control, as 

Zurixx property continued in occupying the Leased Premises and the Receiver never 

rejected the lease but failed and refused to pay the monthly rental payments, despite its prior 

representation to the contrary.  

11.  In addition to the Receiver owing the outstanding rent, it has attempted to remove 

property from the space, such as furniture, fixtures and equipment, which property is 

encumbered pursuant to the lease agreement and due to the owed rent, and that additionally 

much of the property is affixed and would ruin the rented space if it were to be removed. 

Receiver is in the process of auctioning through a public auctioneer the chattel and/or 

furniture in violation of the lease. 

 WHEREFORE, the appearing intervenor plaintiff respectfully requests for this Court 

(1) to relieve the Movant from the stay of claims in this case and (2) order Zurixx through the 

Receiver to satisfy the outstanding rent payments of $236,000.00 as an administrative expense, 

as well as to clear the lease premises of all of Zurixx’s property at its own cost and expense. 

Alternatively and additionally, it is requested for this Court to order the Receiver to leave all 

personal property in the leased premises as payment for the outstanding balance and for 
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Zurixx and the Receiver to release Intervenor from any and all liability in any way related to 

the lease agreement, including clearly waiving any rights and agreeing that possession of the 

premises be legally returned to Landlord.   

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED.  

 I hereby certify that on this date this Intervenor Complaint will be filed using the 

CM/ECF system, which will send notice of its filing to all the attorneys of record.  

In San Juan, Puerto Rico, this 19th day of February 2021. 

 INVENIO LAW LLC 
Attorneys for  
EFRON DORADO, SE 
PO Box 9021829 

      San Juan PR 00902-1829 
      787-724-8117/787-725-8748 
       

s/ Juan J. Hernández López de Victoria 
      USDC 210713 
      jjhernandez@inveniolawpr.com 
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---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: Ivette Rodríguez <rodriguezi@reichardescalera.com> 
Date: Tue, Nov 5, 2019 at 11:18 AM 
Subject: Zurixx LLC/PASEO DEL PLATA LEASE 
To: efron@israelconsulpr.com <efron@israelconsulpr.com> 
CC: Hector Reichard <reichard@reichardescalera.com>, Fernando Van Derdys 
<fvander@reichardescalera.com> 
  

Apreciado David: 

 Ruego al Todopoderoso estés bien tú y los tuyos. Te molesto en procura de saber con quién tengo 
que comunicarme  en Paseo del Plata Shopping Center para implantar, o por lo menos, que el 
Shopping tenga conocimiento de una orden del Tribunal de Distrito Federal de Utah, que ordena (por 
estipulación) que el Tenant, Zurixx le entregue a un receiver la posesión de la propiedad lo que 
conlleva cambiar la cerradura del local. El síndico seguiría con el contrato, haciendo los pagos que 
estipula el contrato  de arrendamiento. El caso es  FTC v. Zurixx LLC, Número 2: 19-cv 0073-DAK-EJF 
USDC de Utah. La Órden dictada por estipulación le requiere al Receiver tomar posesión del local (en 
los zapatos del Arrendatario) mediante el cambio de cerradura para que el Arrendatario no opere el 
negocio y si el Receiver (que no es en quiebra).  

 El Receiver es David Broadbent, Socio de Holland & Hart, bufete que nosotros representamos en P.R., 
razón por la cual estamos ayudando.  En realidad, lo único que se requiere es cambiar la llave que es 
algo que de seguro hay alguien en el Centro o hay quien haga esto, a costo del Receiver (nosotros 
cubrimos esto). Los pagos de renta seguirían conforme al contrato. 

 En fin, lo que necesito es cambiar la cerradura, cosa que está ya estipulado en el caso y mandado por 
la orden pero que nosotros no hacemos sin contar primero contigo/Landlord y que me indiques quien 
pueda ayudar en este proceso en tu organización ya que el Tenant me dice que el Administrador del 
Centro ya no está y no conocen al sucesor. 

 Abuso de nuestra amistad en dirigirme a ti en procura de la información y además me gustaría tener 
un teléfono al cual pueda conseguirte o a la persona que me indiques debo contactar. Te 
acompaño  copia de la orden. 

 Con afecto, 

 Héctor 

Ivette Rodríguez  |  Legal Assistant 
 

email: rodriguezi@reichardescalera.com 
Office: 787-777-8888   Ext: 325 
 

  Fax: 787-765-4225 
 

PO Box 364148, San Juan, PR 00936-4148 
www.reichardescalera.com 

 

Error! Filename not specified.  Error! Filename not specified. Error! Filename not specified.   

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTE: This electronic transmission contains information belonging to Reichard & Escalera, which is confidential or 
legally privileged. If you are not the intended recipient, please immediately advise the sender by reply e-mail or telephone that this 
message has been inadvertently transmitted to you and delete this e-mail from your system. If you have received this transmission in 
error, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on the contents of the 
information is strictly prohibited. 
Circular 230 Notice:  In order to comply with certain U.S. Treasury regulations, unless expressly stated otherwise in writing, any U.S. 
Federal tax advice that may be contained in this communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written to be used, and 
cannot be used, by any person for the purpose of (i) avoiding any tax penalties that may be imposed by the Internal Revenue Service or 
any other U.S. Federal taxing authority or agency, or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to another party any transaction or 
matter addressed herein. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO 

 
 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ET 
AL 
 
Plaintiffs 
 
v.  
 
ZURIXX ,LLC ET AL 
 
Defendants  

Case No. 19-mc-00403-JAG 
 
 
APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER 

 
REPLY TO OPPOSITION TO INTERVENOR COMPLAINT/ MOTION FOR 

ALLOWANCE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE FOR LEASE 
 
 Comes now Efron Dorado, SE, through its undersigned counsel, and respectfully 

states and prays as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

On February 19, 2021 the appearing party filed an Intervenor Complaint for Order 

Directing Payment of Rent and for Relief from Automatic Stay or, Alternatively, Motion for 

Allowance of Administrative Expense for Lease. Dkt. 3. Given the Receiver’s silence and 

based on FRCP 12 and Local Rule 7, on March 18th, 2021 we filed a Motion Requesting Order 

for the Honorable Court to grant the Intervenor Complaint/Motion for Allowance as 

unopposed.  It was not until March 25th, 2021 that the Receiver filed an Opposition to Efron 

Dorado’s Requesting Order and Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice based on the allegation that 

the Intervenor Complaint is not properly before the Court because the under 28 USC 754 the 

United States District Court for the District of Utah has complete jurisdiction over the Zurixx 

Property.  

Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 8-1   Filed 04/26/21   Page 1 of 8Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 10   Filed 06/04/21   Page 1 of 8Case 2:19-cv-00713-DAK-DAO   Document 271   Filed 06/11/21   PageID.12879   Page 98 of 127



Case No. 19-mc-00403-JA            Reply to Opposition to Intervenor Complaint 2 of 8 

Contrary to the Receiver’s position, last Friday, April 22nd, 2021, the US Supreme 

Court held in AMG Capital Management, LLC v. Federal Trade Commission, Supreme Court 19-

508, that the FTC, nor any district court acting on a request by the FTC, has authorization 

pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act to seek a permanent 

injunction without prior use of the Commission’s traditional administrative proceeding. 

Furthermore, that the above cited Section 13(b) does not authorize the Commission to seek, 

or a court to award, equitable monetary relief, thus putting a stop to FTC abuses nationally.  

Further and without waiving the above argument, contrary to the Receiver’s arguments, 

given that the Zurixx Property is within this District, the Receiver had to file the captioned 

case precisely for its Receivership process to have jurisdiction over the Property. Equally 

important, said jurisdiction is not restricted to the District of Utah Court, but is shared with 

this Honorable Court, the only Court with full jurisdiction over the parties and the property.  

More important, the Intervenor Complaint should be granted under 28 USC 754 and 959, 

given Zurixx’s and the Receiver’s breach of contract, and the fact that the Receiver did not 

reject the Lease Agreement. As of today, Zurixx and the Receiver owe Movant $236,000.00. 

Said amount is an administrative expense, readily payable from the estate under the Receiver’s 

control, as the said amount is deemed an administrative expense, readily payable from the 

estate under the Receiver’s control, as Zurixx property continued in occupying the Leased 

Premises and the Receiver never rejected the lease, but failed and refused to pay the monthly 

rental payments, despite its prior representation to the contrary.1 

 
1 The appearing party recently notified the Receiver that, without waiving any of its arguments concerning the breach of 
contract and its right to collect the rent herein requested, the Receiver may extract from the leased premises all furniture 
that may be extracted without structurally damaging the premises. See Exhibit 1 to this motion. This was an issue for 
which receiver was alleging contempt and which should no longer be an issue.   
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II. ARGUMENT 
 
a. The Receiver failed to timely oppose the Intervenor Complaint/ Motion 

and, therefore, waived any objection to the motion  
 

First of all, it is important to note that the Receiver failed to timely oppose the 

Intervenor Complaint/Motion for Relief of Stay and Administrative Expense. As previously 

expressed the complaint was filed on February 19th, 2021 through the CM/ECF system. 

Hence, filing of an opposition was due on March 12, 2021. Hence, its opposition filed on 

March 25th, 2021 was untimely and the Receiver waived any objection to the motion. See Local 

Rule 7(b) [Opposition. Unless within fourteen (14) days after the service of a motion the 

opposing party files a written opposition to the motion, the opposing party shall be deemed 

to have waived any objection to the motion. Any opposition shall include citations, 

supporting authorities, affidavits and other documents setting forth or evidencing facts on 

which the objection is based……] 

b. The Intervenor Complaint/Motion for allowance is squarely within this 
Court’s jurisdiction  
 

As if the above is not enough, contrary to the Receiver’s arguments, the complaint is 

within this Court’ jurisdiction. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A 754: 

A receiver appointed in any civil action or proceeding involving property, real, personal or 
mixed, situated in different districts shall, upon giving bond as required by the court, be vested 
with complete jurisdiction and control of all such property with the right to take possession 
thereof. 

He shall have capacity to sue in any district without ancillary appointment, and may be sued 
with respect thereto as provided in section 959 of this title. Such receiver shall, within 
ten days after the entry of his order of appointment, file copies of the complaint and 
such order of appointment in the district court for each district in which property is 
located. The failure to file such copies in any district shall divest the receiver of 
jurisdiction and control over all such property in that district. 28 U.S.C.A. § 754 
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Furthermore, pursuant to 28 U.S.C.§ 959. Trustees and receivers suable; management; 

State laws: 

 
(a) Trustees, receivers or managers of any property, including debtors in possession, may be 
sued, without leave of the court appointing them, with respect to any of their acts or 
transactions in carrying on business connected with such property. Such actions shall be 
subject to the general equity power of such court so far as the same may be necessary to the 
ends of justice, but this shall not deprive a litigant of his right to trial by jury. 
(b) Except as provided in section 1166 of title 11, a trustee, receiver or manager appointed in 
any cause pending in any court of the United States, including a debtor in possession, shall 
manage and operate the property in his possession as such trustee, receiver or manager 
according to the requirements of the valid laws of the State in which such property is 
situated, in the same manner that the owner or possessor thereof would be bound to 
do if in possession thereof.28 U.S.C.A. § 959 
 

As alleged in the Intervenor Complaint, defendant David K. Boradbent is the appointed 

receiver over the Receivership Entities, one of which is Zurixx, LLC (“Zurixx”), as that term 

is established in the Stipulated Preliminary Injunction filed in case 19CV00713 before the 

Central Division of the United States District Court for the District of Utah 

On or about January 2015 Movant, as Landlord, entered into a Standard Retail Space Lease 

(the “Lease”) with Zurixx, LLC, as tenant, for the use of certain commercial real property 

owned by Movant and located at Paseo del Plata Shopping Mall in Dorado, Puerto Rico. The 

Lease had an initial three (3) year term commencing, which subsequently extended three 

additional years in a Second Addendum executed in November 2018.   

Pursuant to the Lease, as subsequently extended by the Second Addendum, Zurixx became 

obligated to pay to Movant the following yearly basic rent: 
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Along with the additional rent established in the Lease, Zurixx was obligated to satisfy a 

monthly rent of $13,118.94 plus applicable state rental tax and a portion of the ad 

valorem property tax on theLeased Premises.  

After the filing of the stipulated injunction in case19CV00713 before the Central Division 

of the United States District Court for the District of Utah, on November 5, 2019 the Receiver, 

through its local counsel, requested control of the leased premises and failed to reject the 

Lease. Peter A. Davidson, Can a Receiver Reject a Lease like a Bankruptcy Trustee?(March 11, 

2014), https://www.ecjlaw.com/ecj-blog/can-a-receiver-reject-a-lease-like. Nevertheless, and 

despite that it was permitted to visit the premises and extract computers and other property 

of Zurixx, the Receiver has never satisfied Landlord the applicable monthly rent. 2 

Given Zurixx’s and the Receiver’s breach of contract, on March 2nd, 2020 Golden RE, 

LLC, entity for which at the time Efron Dorado, SE managed the property, filed eviction case 

Golden RE v. Zurrix, BY2020CV1121 before the Puerto Rico Court of First Instance, Toa 

 
2 Since it failed to reject the lease, the Receiver, as Zurixx, are to abide by Section 12.5 Property in Leased Premises. 

“All leasehold improvements, such as electrical, plumbing and other fixtures and ventilating and air conditioning 

equipment, and all other construction and installation to be done by Tenant as set forth in Exhibit B hereto, as well as all 

other personal property furnished or paid for by Landlord (whether as initially installed or as replacements thereof), shall 

when installed automatically attach to the freehold and/or become and remain the property of Landlord. All removable 

store fixtures or trade fixtures, signs, drapes, inventory and other items of personal property not becoming the property 

of Landlord as aforesaid, but located within the Lease Premises, shall be subject at all times to Landlord-s lien for 

Rent and other sums which may become due to Landlord under this Lease. “ 

 

Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 8-1   Filed 04/26/21   Page 5 of 8Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 10   Filed 06/04/21   Page 5 of 8Case 2:19-cv-00713-DAK-DAO   Document 271   Filed 06/11/21   PageID.12883   Page 102 of
127

https://www.ecjlaw.com/ecj-blog/can-a-receiver-reject-a-lease-like


Case No. 19-mc-00403-JA            Reply to Opposition to Intervenor Complaint 6 of 8 

Baja. Nevertheless, given the terms of the summary Injunction in this case no collection of 

moneys was included in that case. Judgement against Zurrix in that action, ordering the 

eviction, has already been issued in that case. See Exhibit 2.   

As of today, Zurixx and the Receiver owe Movant $236,000.00. Said amount is an 

administrative expense, readily payable from the estate under the Receiver’s control, as the 

Receiver continued in possession of the Leased Premises and exercised control over the same, 

but failed to reject it and refused to pay the monthly rental payments. 

c. The Receiver’s arguments are merely an evasion of its liability 

The Receiver in this case argues that the appearing party is in contempt of a Utah Court 

order. Aside from the fact that the the issue is before the competent Court of Appeals, it 

should be clear to this Honorable Court that the receiver has evaded its liability for the lease 

agreement payments in this case and that, as the docket in the Utah case reflects, it has assumed 

other leases or reached agreement with other landlords, all in blatant discrimination to the 

Zurixx properties in Puerto Rico.     

It is clear, that the Zurixx properties in Puerto Rico are subject to Puerto Rico law and 

that, given the Receiver’s faiilure to reject the lease within a reasonable time, he is obliged by 

its terms alongside Zurixx. Hence, not only the Intervenor Complaint should be granted, but 

payment of the outstanding claimed amounts is in order.   

Far from a violation the injunction in case 19CV00713, this proceeding provides for 

the proper exercise of jurisdiction by the federal courts in relation to property in Puerto Rico 

that is owned by a Puerto Rico entity. Again, the only reason for the federal courts to have 
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jurisdiction over the Zurixx property in this jurisdiction is precisely because of the captioned 

miscellaneous proceeding.  

Finally, it is obvious that this Honorable Court has personal jurisdiction over all parties 

involved. The Receiver voluntarily submitted itself to this Honorable Court’s jurisdiction by 

the filing of the miscellaneous proceeding as required by 28 USC 1754. Over the appearing 

party, by its voluntary submission with the filing of the Intervenor Complaint.  

III. CONCLUSION 

In short, the Intervenor Complaint/Motion for allowance is squarely within the 

jurisdiction of this Court. All issues concerning an alleged contempt of court are presently 

before the jurisdiction of the competent Court of Appeals and have no bearing on this case, 

more so given the recent precedent of AMG Captial Management, LLC et al v. Federal Trade 

Commission, No. 19-508. Given the fact that the Receiver failed to timely oppose the Intervenor 

Complaint/Motion for Allowance, it should be granted. Alternatively, the Receiver’s 

arguments have no merit and, given the fact that it failed to reject the lease agreement in this 

case, the remedies requested in the Intervenor Complaint/Motion for Allowance should be 

granted.  

 WHEREFORE, the appearing intervenor plaintiff respectfully requests for this Court 

to relieve the Movant from the stay of claims in this case and order Zurixx and the Receiver 

to satisfy the outstanding rent payments of $236,000.00 as an administrative expense, as well 

as to clear the lease premises of all of Zurixx’s property at its own cost and expense. releasing 

Landlord from any and all liability in any way related to the lease agreement. 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED.  

 I hereby certify that on this date this Answer to Complaint will be filed using the 

CM/ECF system, which will send notice of its filing to all the attorneys of record.  

In San Juan, Puerto Rico, this 26 day of April 2021. 

 INVENIO LAW LLC 
Attorneys for 
EFRON DORADO, SE 
PO Box 9021829 

      San Juan PR 00902-1829 
      787-724-8117/787-725-8748 
       

s/ Juan J. Hernández López de Victoria 
      USDC 210713 
      jjhernandez@inveniolawpr.com 
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ESTADO LIBRE ASOCIADO DE PUERTO RICO 
TRIBUNAL DE PRIMERA INSTANCIA  

SALA MUNICIPAL DE DORADO EN TOA BAJA 
 

 
 

GOLDEN RE, LLC. 
Parte Demandante 

 
Vs. 

 
ZURIXX, LLC. 

Parte Demandada 

CIVIL NÚM:  BY2020CV01121 
 
 
SOBRE:  
 

DESAHUCIO POR FALTA DE PAGO 
 

  

  

 
SENTENCIA 

 
A la vista en su fondo comparece la parte demandante representada por su abogada, 

LCDA LAURA BELENDEZ FERRERO.  No comparece la parte demandada, ZURIXX, LLC. a 

pesar de haber sido debidamente emplazada para la vista.  Comparece el LCDO. 

FERNANDO VAN DERDYS representante legal del síndico a cargo de ZURIXX, LLC.   

En el emplazamiento se le apercibió a las partes que la vista sería mediante 

videoconferencia.  Que para poder participar en la misma debía presentar 5 días antes de la 

vista una moción informando la dirección del correo electrónico a donde se le enviaría la 

invitación.  Que de no comparecer a la vista, se podría dictar sentencia en su contra.  

Por tanto, se le anota la rebeldía a la parte demandada, ZURIXX, LLC. 

La parte demandante solicita el desalojo de la propiedad ubicada en PASEO LA 

PLATA SHOPPING VILLAGE, LOCAL 6, INT. 696, AVE. JOSE EFRON, DORADO.  

La parte demandante le arrendó  el local antes mencionado por el término de tres 

año comenzando el 1 de noviembre de 2018 y finalizando el 31 de octubre de 2021.  Desde 

octubre de 2019 la parte demandada dejó de pagar la renta.  Se le notificó de tal 

incumplimiento y no fue remediado.  Por tanto, la parte demandante resolvió y rescindió el 

contrato de arrendamiento según el contrato suscrito entre las partes.  Le notificó a la parte 

demandada que desalojar el local y tampoco lo hizo.   La parte demandante solicita que la 

demandada desaloje la propiedad.    

Toda obligación consiste en dar, hacer o no hacer alguna cosa.  Las obligaciones que 

nacen de los contratos tienen fuerza de ley entre las partes y deben cumplirse a tenor con las 

mismas (Art. 1044 del Código Civil de Puerto Rico, 31 L.P.R.A. sec. 2994).  Las obligaciones se 

extinguen por el pago o cumplimiento.  No se entenderá pagada una deuda sino cuando se 

hubiese entregado la cosa o hecho la prestación en que la obligación consistía (Art. 111 del 

Código Civil de Puerto Rico, 31 L.P.R.A. sec. 3161).  
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 Luego de escuchada la parte demandante, vistos los documentos y de 

conformidad a las disposiciones del Art. 620 y siguientes del Código de Enjuiciamiento 

Civil de Puerto Ricio, 32 L.P.R.A. § 2128, et seq., según enmendado, el tribunal declara 

“CON LUGAR” la demanda de desahucio; ordenando el desalojo de la parte demandada de la 

propiedad objeto de esta acción, en 20 días, a partir de que esta Sentencia advenga final y 

firme. 

 La Sentencia advendrá final y firme cinco (5) días posterior a su notificación. 

Transcurrido el término concedido, si la parte demandada continuara ocupando la 

propiedad en cuestión, a solicitud de la parte demandante se ordenará el 

lanzamiento de la parte demandada y cualquier otra persona que en su nombre 

ocupe la propiedad. 

Según dispone el Artículo 629, se advierte que las apelaciones deberán interponerse 

en el término de cinco (5) días, contados desde la fecha de archivo en autos de la 

notificación de la Sentencia.  Se establece una fianza de $2,000.00.  

REGÍSTRESE Y NOTIFÍQUESE.  

Dada en TOA BAJA, Puerto Rico, a 21 de MARZO 2021. 

                                                          
 

  f/ LORRAINE M. BIAGGI TRIGO 
                                                                 JUEZ MUNICIPAL 
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1 (Slip Opinion) OCTOBER TERM, 2020 

Syllabus 

NOTE: Where it is feasible, a syllabus (headnote) will be released, as is 
being done in connection with this case, at the time the opinion is issued. 
The syllabus constitutes no part of the opinion of the Court but has been 
prepared by the Reporter of Decisions for the convenience of the reader. 
See United States v. Detroit Timber & Lumber Co., 200 U. S. 321, 337. 

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

Syllabus 

AMG CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC, ET AL. v. 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR 
THE NINTH CIRCUIT 

No. 19–508. Argued January 13, 2021—Decided April 22, 2021 

The Federal Trade Commission filed a complaint against Scott Tucker
and his companies alleging deceptive payday lending practices in vio-
lation of §5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act.  The District 
Court granted the Commission’s request pursuant to §13(b) of the Act 
for a permanent injunction to prevent Tucker from committing future 
violations of the Act, and relied on the same authority to direct Tucker 
to pay $1.27 billion in restitution and disgorgement. On appeal, the
Ninth Circuit rejected Tucker’s argument that §13(b) does not author-
ize the award of equitable monetary relief. 

Held: Section 13(b) does not authorize the Commission to seek, or a court 
to award, equitable monetary relief such as restitution or disgorge-
ment.  Pp. 3–15.

(a) Congress granted the Commission authority to enforce the Act’s 
prohibitions on “unfair or deceptive acts or practices,” 15 U. S. C. 
§§45(a)(1)–(2), by commencing administrative proceedings pursuant to 
§5 of the Act. Section 5(l) of the Act authorizes the Commission, fol-
lowing completion of the administrative process and the issuance of a
final cease and desist order, to seek civil penalties, and permits district
courts to “grant mandatory injunctions and such other and further eq-
uitable relief as they deem appropriate in the enforcement of such final 
orders of the Commission.” §45(l). Section 19 of the Act further au-
thorizes district courts (subject to various conditions and limitations)
to grant “such relief as the court finds necessary to redress injury to 
consumers,” §57b(b), in cases where someone has engaged in unfair or 
deceptive conduct with respect to which the Commission has issued a
final cease and desist order applicable to that person, see §57b(a)(2).
Here, the Commission responded to Tucker’s payday lending practices 
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Syllabus 

by seeking equitable monetary relief directly in district court under 
§13(b)’s authorization to seek a “permanent injunction.”  In doing so, 
the Commission acted in accordance with its increasing tendency to
use §13(b) to seek monetary awards without prior use of the Commis-
sion’s traditional administrative proceedings.  The desirability of the 
Commission’s practice aside, the question is whether Congress, by en-
acting §13(b) and using the words “permanent injunction,” granted the 
Commission authority to obtain monetary relief directly from courts
and effectively bypass the requirements of the administrative process.
Pp. 3–6.

(b) Section 13(b) does not explicitly authorize the Commission to ob-
tain court-ordered monetary relief, and such relief is foreclosed by the
structure and history of the Act.  Section 13(b) provides that the “Com-
mission may seek . . . a permanent injunction.”  §53(b).  By its terms,
this provision concerns prospective injunctive relief, not retrospective 
monetary relief. Section 13(b) allows the Commission to go directly to 
district court when the Commission seeks injunctive relief pending ad-
ministrative proceedings or when it seeks only a permanent injunc-
tion. Other statutory provisions, in particular the conditioned and lim-
ited monetary relief authorized in §19, confirm this conclusion.  It is 
highly unlikely that Congress, without mentioning the matter, would 
grant the Commission authority to circumvent its traditional §5 ad-
ministrative proceedings.  Pp. 6–10.

(c) The Commission’s contrary arguments are unavailing.  First, 
Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U. S. 395, and Mitchell v. Robert 
DeMario Jewelry, Inc., 361 U. S. 288, did not adopt a universal rule 
that statutory authority to grant an injunction automatically encom-
passes the power to grant equitable monetary remedies.  Instead, the 
text and structure of the particular statutory scheme at issue can limit
a court’s jurisdiction in equity.  Second, in enacting §19 two years after
§13(b), Congress did not simply create an alternative enforcement path
with similar remedies.  The Court does not believe Congress would 
have enacted §19’s provisions expressly authorizing monetary relief if 
§13(b) already implicitly allowed the Commission to obtain that same 
monetary relief without satisfying §19’s conditions and limitations. 
Third, §19’s saving clauses—preserving “any authority of the Commis-
sion under any other provision of law” and “any other remedy or right 
of action provided by State or Federal law,” §57b(e)—do not help an-
swer whether §13(b) gave the Commission the authority to obtain eq-
uitable monetary relief directly in court in the first place.  Fourth, the 
Act’s 1994 and 2006 amendments, which did not modify the specific 
language at issue here, do not demonstrate congressional acquiescence 
to lower court rulings that favor the Commission’s interpretation of 
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§13(b). Fifth, policy arguments that §5 and §19 are inadequate to pro-
vide redress to consumers should be addressed to Congress.  Pp. 10– 
14. 

910 F. 3d 417, reversed and remanded. 

BREYER, J., delivered the opinion for a unanimous Court. 
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Opinion of the Court 

NOTICE: This opinion is subject to formal revision before publication in the 
preliminary print of the United States Reports. Readers are requested to 
notify the Reporter of Decisions, Supreme Court of the United States, Wash-
ington, D. C. 20543, of any typographical or other formal errors, in order that 
corrections may be made before the preliminary print goes to press. 

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

No. 19–508 

AMG CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC, ET AL., 
PETITIONERS v. FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF 
APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT 

[April 22, 2021] 

JUSTICE BREYER delivered the opinion of the Court. 
Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act 

authorizes the Commission to obtain, “in proper cases,” a 
“permanent injunction” in federal court against “any per-
son, partnership, or corporation” that it believes “is 
violating, or is about to violate, any provision of law” that 
the Commission enforces.  87 Stat. 592, 15 U. S. C. §53(b). 
The question presented is whether this statutory language
authorizes the Commission to seek, and a court to award, 
equitable monetary relief such as restitution or disgorge-
ment. We conclude that it does not. 

I 
Petitioner Scott Tucker controlled several companies that

provided borrowers with short-term payday loans. The 
companies, operating online, would show a potential
customer a loan’s essential terms. When the companies ex-
plained those terms, they misled many customers.  The 
companies’ written explanations seemed to say that cus-
tomers could normally repay a loan by making a single pay-
ment. And that payment would cost a person who, for ex-
ample, borrowed $300 an extra $90.  (The customer would 
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likely repay a total of $390.)  But in fine print the explana-
tions said that the loan would be automatically renewed un-
less the customer took affirmative steps to opt out.  Thus, 
unless the customer who borrowed $300 was aware of the 
fine print and actively prevented the loan’s automatic re-
newal, he or she could end up having to pay $975, not $390.
Between 2008 and 2012, Tucker’s businesses made more 
than 5 million payday loans, amounting to more than $1.3
billion in deceptive charges. 

In 2012 the Federal Trade Commission filed suit and 
claimed that Tucker and his companies were engaging in 
“unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting com-
merce,” in violation of §5(a) of the Act. 15 U. S. C. §45(a)(1). 
(We shall refer to all of the defendants collectively as 
Tucker.)  In asserting that Tucker’s practices were likely to
mislead consumers, the Commission did not first use its 
own administrative proceedings.  Rather, the Commission 
filed a complaint against Tucker directly in federal court.
The Commission, relying upon §13(b), asked the court to is-
sue a permanent injunction to prevent Tucker from commit-
ting future violations of the Act.  Relying on the same pro-
vision, the Commission also asked the court to order 
monetary relief, in particular, restitution and disgorge-
ment. The Commission moved for summary judgment.

The District Court granted the Commission’s summary
judgment motion. The court also granted the Commission’s
request for an injunction and directed Tucker to pay $1.27
billion in restitution and disgorgement.  The court ordered 
the Commission to use these funds first to provide “direct
redress to consumers” and then to provide “other equitable 
relief ” reasonably related to Tucker’s alleged business prac-
tices. Finally, the court ordered the Commission to deposit 
any remaining funds in the United States Treasury as dis-
gorgement.

On appeal, Tucker argued that §13(b) does not authorize
the monetary relief the District Court had granted.  The 

Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 8-4   Filed 04/26/21   Page 5 of 18Case 3:19-mc-00403-JAG   Document 10-3   Filed 06/04/21   Page 5 of 18Case 2:19-cv-00713-DAK-DAO   Document 271   Filed 06/11/21   PageID.12895   Page 114 of
127



  
 

 

  
 
 

 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 
  

3 Cite as: 593 U. S. ____ (2021) 

Opinion of the Court 

Ninth Circuit rejected Tucker’s claim.  910 F. 3d 417 (2018).
It pointed to Circuit precedent that had interpreted §13(b)
as “empower[ing] district courts to grant any ancillary relief
necessary to accomplish complete justice, including restitu-
tion.” FTC v. Commerce Planet, Inc., 815 F. 3d 593, 598 
(2016); see also FTC v. H. N. Singer, Inc., 668 F. 2d 1107, 
1113 (CA9 1982). Two judges, while recognizing that prec-
edent in many Circuits supported that use of §13(b), ex-
pressed doubt as to the correctness of that precedent. 

Tucker then sought certiorari in this Court.  In light of
recent differences that have emerged among the Circuits as
to the scope of §13(b), we granted his petition. 

II 
The Federal Trade Commission Act prohibits, and au-

thorizes the Commission to prevent, “[u]nfair methods of 
competition” and “unfair or deceptive acts or practices.”  15 
U. S. C. §§45(a)(1)–(2).  The Act permits the Commission to
use both its own administrative proceedings (set forth in §5
of the Act) and court actions in exercising this authority.  In 
construing §13(b), it is helpful to understand how the Com-
mission’s authority (and its interpretation of that author-
ity) has evolved over time.

Ever since the Commission’s creation in 1914, it has been 
authorized to enforce the Act through its own administra-
tive proceedings.  Section 5 of the Act describes the relevant 
administrative proceedings in some detail. If the Commis-
sion has “reason to believe” that a party “has been or is us-
ing any unfair method of competition or unfair or deceptive 
act or practice,” it can file a complaint against the claimed
violator and adjudicate its claim before an Administrative
Law Judge. §45(b). The ALJ then conducts a hearing and 
writes a report setting forth findings of fact and reaching a
legal conclusion. Ibid.  If the ALJ concludes that the con-
duct at issue was unfair or misleading, the ALJ will issue 
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an order requiring the party to cease and desist from en-
gaging in the unlawful conduct. Ibid.  The party may then 
seek review before the Commission and eventually in a 
court of appeals, where the “findings of the Commission as
to the facts” (if supported by the evidence) “shall be conclu-
sive.” §45(c). If judicial review favors the Commission (or
if the time to seek judicial review expires), the Commis-
sion’s order normally becomes final (and enforceable).
§45(g).

In the 1970s Congress authorized the Commission to seek 
additional remedies in court. In 1973 Congress added
§13(b), the provision at issue here. That provision permits
the Commission to proceed directly to court (prior to issuing
a cease and desist order) to obtain a “temporary restraining
order or a preliminary injunction,” and also allows the Com-
mission, “in proper cases,” to obtain a court-ordered “per-
manent injunction.” 15 U. S. C. §53(b).  In the same legis-
lation, Congress also amended §5(l) of the Act to authorize
district courts to award civil penalties against respondents
who violate final cease and desist orders, and to “grant
mandatory injunctions and such other and further equita-
ble relief as they deem appropriate in the enforcement of 
such final orders of the Commission.”  §45(l). Two years
later, Congress enacted §19 of the Act, which authorizes 
district courts to grant “such relief as the court finds neces-
sary to redress injury to consumers,” including through the 
“refund of money or return of property.”  §57b(b). However, 
Congress specified that the consumer redress available un-
der §19 could be sought only (as relevant here, and subject 
to various conditions and limitations) against those who 
have “engage[d] in any unfair or deceptive act or prac-
tice . . . with respect to which the Commission has issued a 
final cease and desist order which is applicable to such per-
son.” §57b(a)(2). 

Beginning in the late 1970s, the Commission began to use
§13(b), and in particular the words “permanent injunction,” 
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to obtain court orders for redress of various kinds in con-
sumer protection cases—without prior use of the adminis-
trative proceedings in §5.  See, e.g., FTC v. Virginia Homes 
Mfg. Corp., 509 F. Supp. 51, 59 (Md. 1981) (relying on 
§13(b) to order the defendant to notify past customers of 
their warranty rights); see also D. FitzGerald, The Genesis
of Consumer Protection Remedies Under Section 13(b) of 
the FTC Act 1–2, Paper at FTC 90th Anniversary Sympo-
sium, Sept. 23, 2004 (FitzGerald); Beales & Muris, Striking 
the Proper Balance: Redress Under Section 13(b) of the FTC 
Act, 79 Antitrust L. J. 1, 3–4 (2013).  The Commission used 
this authority to seek and win restitution and other forms 
of equitable monetary relief directly in court.

Similarly, in the late 1990s the Commission began to use
§13(b)’s “permanent injunction” authority in antitrust cases 
to seek monetary awards, such as restitution and disgorge-
ment—again without prior use of traditional administra-
tive proceedings. See Complaint in FTC v. Mylan Labs., 
Inc., No. 98–3114 (DC); Complaint in FTC v. The Hearst 
Trust, No. 01–734 (DC). In 2003 the Commission issued 
guidance that limited its use of §13(b) to obtain monetary 
relief to “exceptional cases” involving a “[c]lear [v]iolation” 
of the antitrust laws.  Policy Statement on Monetary Equi-
table Remedies in Competition Cases, 68 Fed. Reg. 45821 
(emphasis deleted). But in 2012 the Commission withdrew 
its policy statement and the limitations it imposed.  See 
Withdrawal of the Commission Policy Statement on Mone-
tary Equitable Remedies in Competition Cases, 77 Fed. 
Reg. 47071.

The result is that the Commission presently uses §13(b)
to win equitable monetary relief directly in court with great 
frequency. The Commission tells us that “the agency [now] 
brings dozens of [§13(b)] cases every year seeking a perma-
nent injunction and the return of illegally obtained funds.” 
Brief for Respondent 8; see also, e.g., Ohlhausen, Dollars, 
Doctrine, and Damage Control: How Disgorgement Affects 
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the FTC’s Antitrust Mission 7, Speech at Dechert LLP, NY,
Apr. 20, 2016 (Commission sought disgorgement in anti-
trust cases four times between 2012 and 2016, which is “as 
many times as the [Commission] pursued such relief in the 
prior twenty years”).  With respect to consumer protection
cases, the Commission adds that “there’s no question that 
the agency brings far more cases in court than it does in the 
administrative process.”  Tr. of Oral Arg. 49. In fiscal year
2019, for example, the Commission filed 49 complaints in
federal court and obtained 81 permanent injunctions and
orders, resulting in $723.2 million in consumer redress 
or disgorgement. See FTC, Fiscal Year 2021 Con- 
gressional Budget Justification 5 (Feb. 10, 2020), 
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/reports/fy-2021-
congressional-budget- justification/fy_2021_cbj_final.pdf.
In the same period, the Commission issued only 21 new ad-
ministrative complaints and 21 final administrative orders.

Our task here is not to decide whether this substitution 
of §13(b) for the administrative procedure contained in §5 
and the consumer redress available under §19 is desirable. 
Rather, it is to answer a more purely legal question: Did 
Congress, by enacting §13(b)’s words, “permanent injunc-
tion,” grant the Commission authority to obtain monetary
relief directly from courts, thereby effectively bypassing the
process set forth in §5 and §19? 

III 
Several considerations, taken together, convince us that

§13(b)’s “permanent injunction” language does not author-
ize the Commission directly to obtain court-ordered mone-
tary relief. For one thing, the language refers only to in-
junctions. It says, “in proper cases the Commission may 
seek, and after proper proof, the court may issue, a perma-
nent injunction.” 15 U. S. C. §53(b) (emphasis added).  An 
“injunction” is not the same as an award of equitable mon-
etary relief. Compare, e.g., United States v. Oregon State 
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Medical Soc., 343 U. S. 326, 333 (1952) (injunction typically 
offers prospective relief against ongoing or future harm),
with, e.g., 1 D. Dobbs, Law of Remedies §4.1(1) (2d ed. 1993) 
(restitution typically offers retrospective relief to redress 
past harm).  We have, however, sometimes interpreted sim-
ilar language as authorizing judges to order equitable mon-
etary relief.  See Porter v. Warner Holding Co., 328 U. S. 
395 (1946); Mitchell v. Robert DeMario Jewelry, Inc., 361 
U. S. 288 (1960).

But if this language alone is not enough, there is more. 
The language and structure of §13(b), taken as a whole, in-
dicate that the words “permanent injunction” have a lim-
ited purpose—a purpose that does not extend to the grant
of monetary relief. Those words are buried in a lengthy pro-
vision that focuses upon purely injunctive, not monetary,
relief. It says (in relevant part): 

“Whenever the Commission has reason to believe— 
“(1) that any person, partnership, or corporation is

violating, or is about to violate, any provision of law en-
forced by the Federal Trade Commission, and 

“(2) that the enjoining thereof pending the issuance 
of a complaint by the Commission and until such com-
plaint is dismissed by the Commission or set aside by 
the court on review, or until the order of the Commis-
sion made thereon has become final, would be in the 
interest of the public— 

“the Commission by any of its attorneys designated by 
it for such purpose may bring suit in a district court of
the United States to enjoin any such act or practice.
Upon a proper showing that, weighing the equities and 
considering the Commission’s likelihood of ultimate 
success, such action would be in the public interest, and 
after notice to the defendant, a temporary restraining
order or a preliminary injunction may be granted with-
out bond: Provided, however, That if a complaint is not 
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filed within such period (not exceeding 20 days) as may 
be specified by the court after issuance of the tempo-
rary restraining order or preliminary injunction, the
order or injunction shall be dissolved by the court and
be of no further force and effect: Provided further, That 
in proper cases the Commission may seek, and after 
proper proof, the court may issue, a permanent injunc-
tion.” 15 U. S. C. §53(b) (final emphasis added). 

Taken as a whole, the provision focuses upon relief that 
is prospective, not retrospective.  Consider the words “is vi-
olating” and “is about to violate” (not “has violated”) setting 
forth when the Commission may request injunctive relief. 
Consider too the words “pending the issuance of a com-
plaint,” “until such complaint is dismissed,” “temporary re-
straining order,” “preliminary injunction,” and so forth in
the first half of the section. These words reflect that the 
provision addresses a specific problem, namely, that of stop-
ping seemingly unfair practices from taking place while the
Commission determines their lawfulness.  Cf. §53(a) 
(providing similar provisional relief where false 
advertising regarding food, drugs, devices, and cosmetics is 
at issue). And the appearance of the words “permanent in-
junction” (as a proviso) suggests that those words are di-
rectly related to a previously issued preliminary injunction. 
They might also be read, for example, as granting 
authority for the Commission to go one step beyond the pro-
visional and (“in proper cases”) dispense with administra-
tive proceedings to seek what the words literally say
(namely, an injunction). But to read those words as allow-
ing what they do not say, namely, as allowing the Commis-
sion to dispense with administrative proceedings to obtain
monetary relief as well, is to read the words as going well 
beyond the provision’s subject matter.  In light of the his-
torical importance of administrative proceedings, that read-
ing would allow a small statutory tail to wag a very large 
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dog.
Further, the structure of the Act beyond §13(b) confirms

this conclusion. Congress in §5(l) and §19 gave district
courts the authority to impose limited monetary penalties 
and to award monetary relief in cases where the Commis-
sion has issued cease and desist orders, i.e., where the Com-
mission has engaged in administrative proceedings.  Since 
in these provisions Congress explicitly provided for “other 
and further equitable relief,” 15 U. S. C. §45(l), and for the 
“refund of money or return of property,” §57b(b), it likely 
did not intend for §13(b)’s more cabined “permanent injunc-
tion” language to have similarly broad scope.

More than that, the latter provision (§19) comes with cer-
tain important limitations that are absent in §13(b). As rel-
evant here, §19 applies only where the Commission begins
its §5 process within three years of the underlying violation 
and seeks monetary relief within one year of any result-
ing final cease and desist order.  15 U. S. C. §57b(d).  And 
it applies only where “a reasonable man would have 
known under the circumstances” that the conduct at is-
sue was “dishonest or fraudulent.” §57b(a)(2); see also 
§45(m)(1)(B)(2) (providing court-ordered monetary penal-
ties against anyone who engages in conduct previously 
identified as prohibited in a final cease and desist order, but 
only if the violator acted with “actual knowledge that such 
act or practice is unfair or deceptive”).  In addition, Con-
gress enacted these other, more limited, monetary relief
provisions at the same time as, or a few years after, it en-
acted §13(b) in 1973.

It is highly unlikely that Congress would have enacted 
provisions expressly authorizing conditioned and limited 
monetary relief if the Act, via §13(b), had already implicitly 
allowed the Commission to obtain that same monetary re-
lief and more without satisfying those conditions and limi-
tations. Nor is it likely that Congress, without mentioning
the matter, would have granted the Commission authority 
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so readily to circumvent its traditional §5 administrative
proceedings. See FitzGerald 1 (arguing that, in the mid-
1970s, “no one imagined that Section 13(b) of the [FTC] Act 
would become an important part of the Commission’s con-
sumer protection program” (footnote omitted)).

At the same time, to read §13(b) to mean what it says, as
authorizing injunctive but not monetary relief, produces a
coherent enforcement scheme: The Commission may obtain 
monetary relief by first invoking its administrative proce-
dures and then §19’s redress provisions (which include lim-
itations). And the Commission may use §13(b) to obtain in-
junctive relief while administrative proceedings are 
foreseen or in progress, or when it seeks only injunctive re-
lief. By contrast, the Commission’s broad reading would al-
low it to use §13(b) as a substitute for §5 and §19.  For the 
reasons we have just stated, that could not have been Con-
gress’ intent. Cf. Whitman v. American Trucking Assns., 
Inc., 531 U. S. 457, 468 (2001) (“Congress . . . does not . . . 
hide elephants in mouseholes”). 

IV 
The Commission makes several arguments to the con-

trary.  First, the Commission points to traditional equitable 
practice and to two previous cases where we interpreted
provisions authorizing injunctive relief to authorize equita-
ble monetary relief as well. See Porter v. Warner Holding 
Co., 328 U. S. 395 (1946); Mitchell v. Robert DeMario Jew-
elry, Inc., 361 U. S. 288 (1960). In Porter we said that 
“[n]othing is more clearly a part of the subject matter of a 
suit for an injunction than the recovery of that which has 
been illegally acquired and which has given rise to the ne-
cessity for injunctive relief.”  328 U. S., at 399. In Mitchell 
we said that, “[w]hen Congress entrusts to an equity court 
the enforcement of prohibitions contained in a regulatory
enactment, it must be taken to have acted cognizant of the
historic power of equity to provide complete relief in light of 
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the statutory purposes.” 361 U. S., at 291–292.  The Com-
mission argues that these cases consequently support the 
proposition that the traditional equitable “authority to
grant an ‘injunction’ includes the power to grant restorative 
monetary remedies.” Brief for Respondent 21.

The problem for the Commission is that we did not in 
these two cases purport to set forth a universal rule of in-
terpretation.  And both cases involved different statutes. 
See Porter, 328 U. S., at 397 (Emergency Price Control Act 
provision authorizing courts to issue “ ‘a permanent or tem-
porary injunction, restraining order, or other order’ ”); 
Mitchell, 361 U. S., at 289 (Fair Labor Standards Act provi-
sion authorizing courts to “ ‘restrain violations’ ” of the Act’s 
antiretaliation ban). In both cases, we recognized that the 
text and structure of the statutory scheme at issue can, “in
so many words, or by a necessary and inescapable infer-
ence, restric[t] the court’s jurisdiction in equity.”  Porter, 
328 U. S., at 398; Mitchell, 361 U. S., at 291.  Thus in Porter 
we examined “other provision[s] of the [Emergency Price 
Control] Act” to determine whether they “expressly or im-
pliedly preclud[e] a court from ordering restitution in the
exercise of its equity jurisdiction.” 328 U. S., at 403.  And 
in Mitchell we examined other provisions of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act before concluding that there was “no indica-
tion in the language” that the statute precluded equitable 
relief in the form of lost wages.  361 U. S., at 294. 

Moreover, more recently, we have held, based on our 
reading of a statutory scheme as a whole, that a provision’s 
grant of an “injunction” or other equitable powers does not 
automatically authorize a court to provide monetary relief.
Rather, we have said, the scope of equitable relief that a 
provision authorizes “remains a question of interpretation 
in each case.” Mertens v. Hewitt Associates, 508 U. S. 248, 
257 (1993). Our decision in Meghrig v. KFC Western, Inc., 
516 U. S. 479 (1996), is instructive. There, we considered a 
provision in the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
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that authorizes district courts “to restrain any person who 
has contributed or who is contributing to the past or present
handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of 
any solid or hazardous waste,” and “to order such person to 
take such other action as may be necessary, or both.”  98 
Stat. 3268, 42 U. S. C. §6972(a).  The question was whether 
this language permits courts to award restitution in the 
form of past cleanup costs. We concluded that, despite Por-
ter, the provision’s grant of equitable authority does not au-
thorize past cleanup costs because the relevant statutory 
scheme (as here) contained other “ ‘elaborate enforcement 
provisions,’ ” including (as here) provisions that explicitly
provide for that form of relief. Meghrig, 516 U. S., at 487. 
Here, the inference against §13(b)’s authorization of mone-
tary relief is strong and follows from the interpretive ap-
proach we took in Meghrig.

Second, the Commission argues that Congress simply 
created two enforcement avenues, one administrative and 
the other judicial, leaving the Commission the power to de-
cide which of the two “separate, parallel enforcement paths”
to take. Brief for Respondent 41.  To the extent that §19
authorizes “similar relief ” as §13(b), the Commission con-
tinues, that reflects only the fact that each pathway is an
alternative route to “similar endpoints.”  Id., at 41–42. This 
statement, however, does not overcome the interpretive dif-
ficulties we have set forth, for example permitting the Com-
mission to avoid the conditions and limitations laid out in 
§19. We cannot believe that Congress merely intended to 
enact a more onerous alternative to §13(b) when it enacted 
§19 two years later.

Third, the Commission points to saving clauses in §19, 
which, it says, save its ability to use §13(b) to obtain mone-
tary relief. See id., at 42.  Those clauses preserve “any au-
thority of the Commission under any other provision of law” 
and preserve “any other remedy or right of action provided 
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by State or Federal law.”  15 U. S. C. §57b(e).  Here, how-
ever, the question is not one of preserving pre-existing rem-
edies given by other statutory provisions.  The question is
whether those other provisions (namely, §13(b)) gave that 
remedy in the first place.

Fourth, the Commission points out that the courts of ap-
peals have, until recently, consistently accepted its inter-
pretation, and that Congress has in effect twice ratified that 
interpretation in subsequent amendments to the Act.  See, 
e.g., Brief for Respondent 8, and n. 3 (citing the similar con-
clusions of eight Circuits).  But see FTC v. Credit Bureau 
Center, LLC, 937 F. 3d 764 (CA7 2019); FTC v. AbbVie Inc., 
976 F. 3d 327 (CA3 2020).  We have held that Congress’ ac-
quiescence to a settled judicial interpretation can suggest
adoption of that interpretation.  See, e.g., Monessen South-
western R. Co. v. Morgan, 486 U. S. 330, 338 (1988).  We 
have also said, however, that when “Congress has not com-
prehensively revised a statutory scheme but has made only 
isolated amendments . . . [i]t is impossible to assert with 
any degree of assurance that congressional failure to act 
represents affirmative congressional approval of [a court’s] 
statutory interpretation.”  Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U. S. 
275, 292 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted). We 
find this latter statement the more relevant here. 

The two examples of acquiescence to which the Commis-
sion refers do not convince us that Congress acquiesced in
the lower courts’ interpretation.  The Commission first 
points to amendments that Congress made to the Act in
1994. See §10, 108 Stat. 1695–1696.  Those two amend-
ments, however, simply revised §13(b)’s venue, joinder, and 
service rules, not its remedial provisions.  They tell us noth-
ing about the words “permanent injunction” in §13(b).

The Commission also points to amendments made to the
Act in 2006. Those amendments modified the scope of §5 so
that, where certain conduct in foreign commerce is in-
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volved, §5 authorizes “ ‘[a]ll remedies available to the Com-
mission,’ ”  including “ ‘restitution.’ ”  See §3, 120 Stat. 3372.
We agree, however, that restitution is available, for exam-
ple, when the Commission uses its administrative process. 
See, e.g., 15 U. S. C. §57b(b).  That being so, these amend-
ments also tell us nothing about the scope of §13(b). 

Fifth, the Commission and its amici emphasize the
policy-related importance of allowing the Commission to 
use §13(b) to obtain monetary relief. They suggest that it
is undesirable simply to enjoin those who violate the Act 
while leaving them with profits earned at the unjustified 
expense of consumers.  See, e.g., Brief for Respondent 8–9;
Brief for Truth in Advertising, Inc., as Amicus Curiae 7–13; 
Brief for American Antitrust Institute as Amicus Curiae 9– 
21; Brief for National Consumer Law Center et al. as Amici 
Curiae 10–20; Brief for Illinois et al. as Amici Curiae 5–11.  
They point to the billions of dollars that the Commission 
has returned to consumers as a result of the Commission’s 
§13(b) efforts. See, e.g., Brief for Respondent 8–9; Brief for 
Illinois et al. as Amici Curiae 5. 

Nothing we say today, however, prohibits the Commis-
sion from using its authority under §5 and §19 to obtain
restitution on behalf of consumers. If the Commission be-
lieves that authority too cumbersome or otherwise inade-
quate, it is, of course, free to ask Congress to grant it further 
remedial authority. Indeed, the Commission has recently
asked Congress for that very authority, see Hearing before 
the Senate Committee on Commerce, Science, and Trans-
portation on Oversight of the Federal Trade Commission, 
Prepared Statement of the FTC, 116th Cong., 2d Sess., 3–5 
(2020), and Congress has considered at least one bill that 
would do so, see S. 4626, 116th Cong., 2d Sess., §403 (2020) 
(revising §13 to expressly authorize restitution and dis-
gorgement).  We must conclude, however, that §13(b) as 
currently written does not grant the Commission authority 
to obtain equitable monetary relief. 
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Opinion of the Court 

* * * 
For these reasons, we reverse the Ninth Circuit’s judg-

ment, and we remand the case for further proceedings con-
sistent with this opinion. 

It is so ordered. 
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